# REVIEW

# NEURONAL POPULATIONS MEDIATING THE EFFECTS OF ENDOCANNABINOIDS ON STRESS AND EMOTIONALITY

### M. HÄRING,<sup>1</sup> S. GUGGENHUBER<sup>1</sup> AND B. LUTZ\*

Institute of Physiological Chemistry, University Medical Center of the Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, 55128 Mainz, Germany

Abstract—An adequate emotional response to stress is essential for survival and requires the fine-tuned regulation of several distinct neuronal circuits. Therefore, a precise control of these circuits is necessary to prevent behavioral imbalances. During the last decade, numerous investigations have evidenced that the endocannabinoid (eCB) system is able to crucially control stress coping. Its central component, the cannabinoid type 1 receptor (CB1 receptor), is located at the presynapse, where it is able to attenuate neurotransmitter release after its activation by postsynaptically produced and released eCBs. To date, the eCB system has been found to control the neurotransmitter release from several neuron populations (e.g. GABA, glutamate, catecholamines and monoamines), suggesting a general mechanism for tuning neuronal activity, and thereby regulating emotion and stress responses. In this review, we aim at summarizing the anatomical and functional relation of the eCB system to an adequate response to stressful situations. Of special interest will be neuronal connections to the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, but also circuits between cortical structures, such as prefrontal cortex, amygdala and hippocampus, and subcortical regions, such as raphe nuclei and locus coeruleus. We further like to step toward allocating eCB system functions to distinct cellular subpopulations in the brain. It has emerged that the eCB system is spatially well defined, and its detailed knowledge is a prerequisite for understanding the eCB system in the context of controlling behavior. Thus, advanced approaches combining different genetic and pharmacological tools to dissect specific eCB system functions are of particular interest.

This article is part of a Special Issue entitled: Stress, Emotional Behavior and the Endocannabinoid System. © 2011 IBRO. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

\*Corresponding author. Tel: +49 (0)6131-39-25-912; fax: +49 (0)6131-39-23-536.

E-mail address: blutz@uni-mainz.de (B. Lutz).

0306-4522/12  $36.00\$   $\odot$  2011 IBRO. Published by Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.12.035

Key words: cannabinoid receptor, endocannabinoid, stress, mouse genetics, adeno-associated virus, Cre/loxP system.

Contents	
Endocannabinoids, emotion and stress	145
Neuronal circuits involved in stress and emotion	146
Anatomical connection of the stress circuits with the eCB	
system	148
General distribution of the eCB system	148
The eCB system in specific neuronal circuits	149
Pharmacological and genetic modulations of eCB system	
activity and the effects on stress responses	149
Effects of stress on eCB system activity	149
Effects of pharmacological eCB system activity	
modulation on stress	150
Genetic approaches for deciphering eCB-mediated	
stress circuits	151
Combining viral injections, conditional mutagenesis, and	
pharmacology to reveal distinct eCB system	
functions: a novel approach	152
Summary: eCB system mediates differential functions on	
different neurons	154
Acknowledgments	154
References	154

#### ENDOCANNABINOIDS, EMOTION AND STRESS

Emotionality describes a highly complex behavior in response to various environmental stimuli. An appropriate emotional outcome requires fine-tuned neurotransmitter release processes and functional neuronal circuits. Therefore, prevention of an imbalanced signaling is highly important, especially in stressful situations. One of the endogenous control mechanisms is constituted by the endocannabinoid (eCB) system, which is named according to its sensitivity to  $\Delta^9$ -tetrahydrocannabinol (THC), the main psychoactive compound of Cannabis sativa. Since the cannabinoid type 1 receptor (CB1 receptor) has been discovered (Matsuda et al., 1990), the members of the eCB system have steadily increased, comprising different ligands, synthesizing and degrading enzymes as well as other cannabinoid receptors (Petrosino and Di Marzo, 2010). There are two major endogenous ligands (named endocannabinoids; eCBs), N-arachidonoyl ethanolamine (anandamide, AEA) (Devane et al., 1992) and 2-arachidonoyl glycerol (2-AG) (Sugiura et al., 1995). Unlike "classical" neurotransmitters, the eCBs are not stored in vesicles at the presynapse, but are synthesized from lipid membrane precursor molecules on demand by Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent and independent mechanisms in the postsynapse (Kano et al., 2009). The ligands travel by a still unknown

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These authors equally contributed to this work.

Abbreviations: AAV, adeno-associated virus; ABHD6,  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -hydrolase domain 6; ACTH, adrenocorticotropic hormone; AEA, anandamide; BA, basolateral nucleus of BLA; BLA, basolateral amygdala complex; BNST, bed nucleus of the stria terminalis; CB1 receptor, cannabinoid type 1 receptor; CB2, cannabinoid type 2 receptor; CCK, cholecystokinin; CeA, central amygdala; CeAL, lateral part of central amygdala; CeAM, medial part of central amygdala; CeA, lateral part of central amygdala; CeAM, medial seq. (Comparison of the stria terminalis); CB1 comparison of the stria terminalis; CB1 receptor; CCK, cholecystokinin; CeA, central amygdala; CeAL, lateral part of central amygdala; CeAM, medial part of central amygdala; CeAH, corticotropin-releasing hormone; EC, entorhinal cortex; eCB, endocannabinoid; FAAH, fatty acid amide hydrolase; GOI, gene of interest; GPR55, G protein-coupled receptor 55; HPA axis, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis; LA, lateral nucleus of BLA; LC, locus coeruleus; MAGL, monoacylglycerol lipase; NTS, nucleus of the solitary tract; PFC, prefrontal cortex; PVN, paraventricular nucleus; S, subiculum; THC,  $\Delta^9$ -tetrahydrocannabinol; TRPV1, transient receptor potential cation channel vanilloid type 1; 2-AG, 2-arachidonoyl.

mechanism retrogradely across the synaptic cleft to the presynaptically located CB1 receptor. Activation of the CB1 receptor induces the major feature of the eCB system, namely the inhibition of neurotransmitter release by modulation of several ion channels and kinases (Kano et al., 2009; Turu and Hunyady, 2010). Cannabinergic signaling is limited by a still poorly defined uptake process and rather well-characterized intracellular hydrolysis by fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) for AEA, monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL), and serine hydrolase  $\alpha,\beta$ -hydrolase domain 6 (ABHD6) for 2-AG (Kano et al., 2009; Marrs et al., 2010). Experimental evidence has suggested that the uptake process is mediated by a transporter mechanism (Hillard et al., 1997). In fact, a truncated FAAH protein lacking the amidase activity has recently been identified as an AEA transporter (Fu et al., 2011). Interestingly, the degrading enzymes for the two major eCBs display distinct subcellular and synaptic localization, suggesting different signaling properties for AEA and 2-AG (Cristino et al., 2008; Kano et al., 2009). Although FAAH is mostly found in the postsynapse, MAGL is primarily colocalized with the CB1 receptor in the presynaptic structure (Egertova et al., 2003; Gulyas et al., 2004; Kano et al., 2009; Keimpema et al., 2010). Moreover, differential functions of AEA and 2-AG in the modulation of neuronal transmission processes have recently been described in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST) (Puente et al., 2011). To date, there is clear evidence for other receptors in the CNS that are modulated by eCBs, such as the transient receptor potential cation channel vanilloid type 1 (TRPV1) (Chávez et al., 2010; De Petrocellis and Di Marzo, 2010), G protein-coupled receptor 55 (GPR55) (Baker et al., 2006; Nevalainen and Irving, 2010), peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) family of nuclear receptors (O'Sullivan and Kendall, 2010), and GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor (Sigel et al., 2011), making the understanding of distinct eCB system functions even more difficult. The existence of the cannabinoid type 2 receptor (CB2 receptor) in brain tissue has been under discussion for the last years. Accumulating evidence has shown the presence and physiological importance of the CB2 receptor in the CNS (Onaivi et al., 2006; García-Gutiérrez et al., 2010). In the present review, we will focus on CB1 receptor-related functions. Nevertheless, the role of the CB2 receptor as well as the degrading enzymes FAAH and MAGL will also be discussed.

Taken together, the eCB system with its property of modulating neurotransmission is an interesting candidate to control behavior (Kano et al., 2009). In fact, various pharmacological and genetic studies show a variety of behavioral responses, in particular changes in mood and emotionality (Lutz, 2009; Hill and McEwen, 2010; Moreira and Wotjak, 2010). Interestingly, in animal models, cannabinergic drugs have been shown to possess biphasic effects depending on the dose (Kathuria et al., 2003; Gobbi et al., 2005; Hill and Gorzalka, 2005; Viveros et al., 2005; Bambico et al., 2007). This is in accordance with effects in humans, where opposite (depressive or euphoric) experiences after cannabis use were reported (Fusar-Poli et al., 2009). However, ubiquitous pharmacological and genetic approaches might not be sufficient to precisely dissect the mechanisms underlying this biphasic phenomenon. It is our belief that the CB1 receptor, but also the other components of eCB system, on distinct neuronal populations is responsible for these opposing effects. Hence, a general activation or inhibition of the eCB system might shade specific effects. In addition, some neuronal populations might be differently affected by lower or higher availability of cannabinoids, which is based on an unequal sensitivity and/or availability of the eCB receptors and/or their respective signaling cascades.

A major drawback of a pharmacological approach is the lack of cellular specificity of the applied drug. Similarly, insufficient for the detailed functional analysis of the eCB system is a ubiquitous genetic deletion of a respective eCB system component, as distinct effects might be shaded. Thus, a more local and cell type-specific understanding of the eCB system is necessary to pinpoint particular eCB related effects. To target this problem, more complex approaches combining different state-of-the-art genetic and pharmacological tools are required. In fact, recent publications on mice lacking the CB1 receptor only in GABAergic or glutamatergic neurons do show opposite responses to stressful situations, which was only partially seen in mice with ubiquitous deletion (Lafenêtre et al., 2009; Jacob et al., 2009; Häring et al., 2011). Also viral gene delivery systems combined together with transgenic animals seem to be a promising strategy (Guggenhuber et al., 2010).

## NEURONAL CIRCUITS INVOLVED IN STRESS AND EMOTION

The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is the major circuit involved in the response to a stressful situation (Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009; Hill and McEwen, 2010). Upon exposure to stressful stimuli, neurons of the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus (PVN) secrete corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH) into the portal vessels of the median eminence. In the pituitary, CRH initiates the secretion of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), which in turn induces the synthesis and release of glucocorticoid hormones (corticosterone in mice and rats and cortisol in humans) in the inner adrenal cortex into the bloodstream. Besides a fast mobilization of stored energy, released glucocorticoids inhibit HPA axis activity by feedback mechanisms (Steiner et al., 2008a; Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009; Hill et al., 2010a).

Despite of its central role, the HPA axis is only appropriately operational in connection with additional networks spanning from brainstem nuclei to specific limbic system structures (Fig. 1). How specific regulatory networks control glucocorticoid release in response to stress is influenced by a number of factors, such as different stressor types (reactive vs. anticipatory stressor, physical vs. psychological stressor) (Dedovic et al., 2009). These brain regions execute their regulatory functions on HPA axis activity by targeting the PVN of the hypothalamus (Herman et al., 2003; Jankord and Herman, 2008). Brainstem struc-



**Fig. 1.** Schematic illustration of the CB1 receptor distribution within the main stress circuits. The CB1 receptor, indicated as a *Cannabis sativa* leaf, is found at a majority of synaptic connections within and between each major brain region related to the activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, which is controlled by the subcortical structure paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus, the pituitary (PI), and the adrenal cortex (AC). A most dominant distribution of CB1 receptor is found in GABAergic (red) and glutamatergic (green) neurons in limbic regions, that is, prefrontal cortex (PFA), amygdala (BLA, CeA), bed nuclei of the stria terminalis (BNST), and hippocampus. Additionally, serotonergic (blue) and noradrenergic (orange) neurons from brainstem nuclei are also involved in the stress response. A projection to a particular brain region is depicted as an arrow with the specification where the projection proven. Abbreviations: AC, adrenal cortex; ACTH, adrenocorticotropin; BNST, bed nuclei of the stria terminalis; BA, basolateral nucleus of BLA; BLA, basolateral amygdala complex; CA, cornu ammonis; CeA, central amygdala; CeAL, lateral part of CeA; CORT, corticosterone; CRH, corticotropin-releasing hormone; DG, dentate gyrus; EC, entorhinal cortex; LA, lateral nucleus of BLA; LC, locus coeruleus; PFC, prefrontal cortex; PI, pituitary gland; PVN, paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus; S, subiculum.

tures, such as the locus coeruleus (LC) and the nucleus of the solitary tract (NTS: not depicted in Fig. 1), can activate PVN neurons through direct noradrenergic projections (Cunningham et al., 1990; Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009). Also serotonergic afferents from the raphe nuclei directly innervate neurons in the PVN (Lowry, 2002; Zhang et al., 2002). Limbic forebrain regions including the amygdala, the hippocampus, and the prefrontal cortex (PFC) are mainly indirectly connected with the HPA axis (Ulrich-Lai and Herman, 2009). The information is first processed by relay stations, such as the BNST or the preoptic area of hypothalamus. In contrast to the mostly excitatory stimulus from brainstem nuclei (i.e. LC, NTS, raphe nuclei), these relay sites send mainly inhibitory (GABAergic) projections onto PVN neurons. Therefore, excitatory input from the hippocampus and the PFC inhibits HPA axis activity by activating inhibitory projections to PVN neurons (Jankord and Herman, 2008). The amygdala, in contrast, sends primarily inhibitory GABAergic efferents to the relay sites BNST and preoptic area. This blocks the inhibitory input onto the PVN and results in disinhibition of PVN neurons and, therefore, increases HPA activity (Jankord and Herman, 2008). Nevertheless, the PVN also contains glutamatergic terminals that activate the HPA axis. Origin of these excitatory neurons is the PVN itself, but also other hypothalamic subnuclei and to some extent the relay sites BNST and preoptic area (Csáki et al., 2000).

In addition to the multiple inputs onto the HPA axis, these brain regions also show a vast connectivity between these structures (Fig. 1). Thus, the PFC sends glutama-

tergic projections to the hippocampus, amygdala, LC, and raphe nuclei (Del Arco and Mora, 2009; Vázquez-Borsetti et al., 2011). The hippocampus sends its glutamatergic projections via its output region, the subiculum (S) and possibly the entorhinal cortex (EC), to cortical and subcortical regions, including amygdala, the PFC, the raphe nuclei, and the LC (Rosene and Van Hoesen, 1977; van Groen and Wyss, 1990; Myers and Scharfman, 2011).

The amygdala also sends efferent fibers to cortical and subcortical regions. Connections to the hippocampus and the PFC originate mainly from the basolateral complex of the amygdala (Sah and Lopez De Armentia, 2003). Inhibitory input to subcortical regions are often indirect via the BNST and originate from the central amygdala (CeA) (Dong et al., 2001). However, also direct connections to other hypothalamic and brainstem regions originate from the medial part of the central amygdala (CeAM) (Petrovich et al., 2001). A direct innervation of the LC remains elusive (Luppi et al., 1995; Peyron et al., 1998; Benes, 2010).

The rather small raphe nuclei display a multitude of serotonergic projection areas, among which are the PFC, the limbic regions (hippocampus and amygdala), as well as the LC (Molliver, 1987; Fitzgerald, 2011; Charnay and Leger, 2010). Similarly, noradrenergic efferents from the LC have been found to innervate the PFC, the limbic structures, and the raphe nuclei (Levitt and Moore, 1978; Loy et al., 1980; Fitzgerald, 2011).

Moreover, the PFC, the hippocampus, and the amygdala are connected among each other and represent within each region highly organized processing structures,

displaying internal circuits and subregional organizations. Thus, the hippocampus possesses a trisynaptic circuit consisting of three glutamatergic connections between its subregions (Amaral and Witter, 1989). Hence, glutamatergic projections from the EC innervate the dendrites from dentate gyrus (DG) granule cells. These cells send efferents, the mossy fibers, onto the dendritic arbors of the pyramidal cells in the cornu ammonis subregion CA3, which in turn innervate, through the so-called Schaffer collaterals, dendrites of pyramidal neurons in the cornu ammonis subregion CA1. Recent studies even indicate that the CA3 region itself might be a main entry point into the hippocampal formation with higher processing function because of additional "back projections" to the EC and connections with GABAergic interneurons (not depicted in Fig. 1; Myers and Scharfman, 2011).

The PFC area also consists of several subregions containing diverse glutamatergic projection neurons and GABAergic interneurons. It is mainly divided into two regions, the orbital and medial PFC, which gives rise to two distinct networks. Both regions are connected with different brain structures, but also send projections toward each other (for review, see Ongür and Price, 2000; Tanji and Hoshi, 2008). Of special interest regarding the contribution of the PFC to the stress response is the medial PFC, which represents its main output region. Glutamatergic neurons from the subregions are known to innervate other limbic regions as well as the hypothalamus and brainstem areas (Petrovich et al., 2005; Bambico et al., 2007).

The amygdala, in contrast, consists of several interconnected nuclei, the most prominent being the central, the basal, and the lateral nucleus (Krettek and Price, 1978; Pape and Pare, 2010). Although the basolateral amygdala complex (BLA) has cortical origin and properties, possessing a majority of glutamatergic neurons and a minority of GABAergic interneurons (McDonald, 1982; Ramikie and Patel, 2012), the CeA nucleus is of striatal origin and properties, consisting mainly of medium spiny-type GABAergic neurons (Ehrlich et al., 2009). Main input region of the amygdaloid structure is the BLA, which sends excitatory projections to the main amygdala output area, the CeA (Krettek and Price, 1978; Ramikie and Patel, 2012). However, this serial pathway described earlier is more complex, as the CeA has also been suggested as an additional processing site (Ehrlich et al., 2009; Pape and Pare, 2010). The CeA can further be subdivided into medial part of central amygdala (CeAM) and lateral part of central amygdala (CeAL). Both subregions receive excitatory input from the BLA, but the CeAM also receives inhibitory input from the CeAL (Ramikie and Patel, 2012). An additional inhibitory source within the amygdala circuits is the intercalating neurons (not depicted in Fig. 1). These GABAergic cells surround the amygdala complex, receive inputs from the PFC, and send inhibitory projections into the different subnuclei, in particular to the CeA (Millhouse, 1986; Ehrlich et al., 2009).

The raphe nuclei and the LC are in comparison rather simple structures, even though several raphe nuclei exist that send serotonergic projections to each other. Like in the limbic structures, there are also internal inhibitory cells within these brainstem regions, which are mostly GABAergic, but also serotonergic (Tao and Auerbach, 2000; Aston-Jones et al., 2004; Celada et al., 2001).

## ANATOMICAL CONNECTION OF THE STRESS CIRCUITS WITH THE eCB SYSTEM

#### General distribution of the eCB system

The overall expression of CB1 receptor mRNA and protein is vastly distributed over the whole CNS with major localization in cortical areas, amygdala, striatum, and cerebellum. Moderate and low expression levels can be seen in thalamic, hypothalamic, and brainstem regions (Marsicano and Lutz, 1999; Mackie, 2005; Marsicano and Kuner, 2008). To date, its presence has been verified directly in GABAergic, cholinergic, glutamatergic, noradrenergic, and serotonergic neuron terminals, with highest levels in GABAergic neurons (Marsicano and Lutz, 1999; Degroot et al., 2006; Monory et al., 2006; Oropeza et al., 2007; Häring et al., 2007).

The presence of eCB-degrading enzymes FAAH and MAGL are often, but not always, associated with the CB1 receptor expression (Basavarajappa, 2007; Marsicano and Kuner, 2008; Ramikie and Patel, 2012). FAAH expression is vastly distributed through the CNS, but displays frequently a complementary pattern with the CB1 receptor, namely, the enzyme being close to CB1 receptor-positive terminals (Thomas et al., 1997; Egertova et al., 2003). Both proteins can be found in cortical regions, although in several subcortical nuclei FAAH distribution seems to be independent of CB1 receptor signaling (e.g. raphe nuclei and several thalamic nuclei). In contrast, FAAH protein is low or even absent in regions known for high CB1 receptor content, such as substantia nigra and globus pallidus. Regarding the presence in stress-related neuronal subpopulations, FAAH can be detected mostly in cortical glutamatergic cells (Basavarajappa, 2007).

MAGL, the 2-AG-degrading enzyme shows in comparison with FAAH a strong colocalization with the CB1 receptor not only at the regional distribution but also at the subcellular level. In general, MAGL expression can be found at high levels in the cortex, hippocampus, amvgdala, and cerebellum. In contrast to CB1 expression, MAGL mRNA levels are also prominent in the thalamic anterodorsal nucleus, but only at low levels in the nucleus accumbens (Dinh et al., 2002). At protein level, the enzyme can be found predominantly in axon terminals of granule cells, CA3 pyramidal cells, and partly in interneurons of the hippocampus (Gulyas et al., 2004). CB2 receptor mRNA was described in several brain regions, among which are the limbic areas as well as the median raphe nucleus (Onaivi et al., 2006; García-Gutiérrez et al., 2010). Highest levels of CB2 receptor protein was found in the hippocampus and the cerebral cortex (Onaivi et al., 2006; García-Gutiérrez et al., 2010). In contrast to the synaptic localization of the CB1 receptor, the CB2 receptor appears to be localized in the cell body and dendrites (Onaivi et al., 2006; Suárez et al., 2009).

#### The eCB system in specific neuronal circuits

Because of its vast abundance of the CB1 receptor in the mammalian CNS, it is not surprising that the receptor is also found in the major brain structures involved in the stress response (Fig. 1). The most prominent expression of the CB1 receptor can be seen in the hippocampal formation, in the BLA, and in the PFC (Marsicano and Kuner, 2008). Here, CB1 receptor is expressed at very high levels in cholecystokinin (CCK)-positive GABAergic interneurons (Marsicano and Lutz, 1999; Azad et al., 2008; Morozov et al., 2009) and at moderate to low levels in glutamatergic terminals (Monory et al., 2006; Kawamura et al., 2006; Kano et al., 2009).

Even though the vast majority of CB1 receptor in the limbic areas arises from GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons, the receptor has also been detected on serotonergic and noradrenergic terminals, adding an additional way on how endocannabinoids influence limbic circuits (Häring et al., 2007; Oropeza et al., 2007). A most striking feature of the receptor protein localization in the amygdala is its high levels in the basolateral part, but it is almost undetectable in the central nucleus (Mackie, 2005; Marsicano and Kuner, 2008). In fact, CB1 receptor protein has only recently been clearly detected in the central nucleus of the amygdala (Kamprath et al., 2010).

FAAH within all three limbic regions (PFC, hippocampus, amygdala) is expressed at high levels and is located on the soma and dendrites of glutamatergic neurons (Cristino et al., 2008). GABAergic interneurons, which possess the highest amount of the CB1 receptor, lack FAAH completely (Egertova et al., 1998; Dinh et al., 2002; Basavarajappa, 2007). MAGL is expressed by both GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons, but is mostly localized at axon terminals of glutamatergic neurons, for example, hippocampal granule cells and CA3 pyramidal cells, and only partly on interneurons (Gulyas et al., 2004). Similar to the CB1 receptor, FAAH and MAGL are found in high levels in the BLA, whereas only low levels can be found in the CeA (Ramikie and Patel, 2012). CB2 receptor was found to be present mainly in glutamatergic neurons in the pyramidal cell layer of the hippocampus and the cerebral cortex (Onaivi et al., 2006, in press; García-Gutiérrez et al., 2010). A detailed analysis of the hippocampal distribution revealed a staining of putative dendritic fibers and terminals in all major subregions of the hippocampus (Suárez et al., 2009).

The BNST, also called the extended amygdala, is a major relay site, where CB1 receptor is located on both glutamatergic and GABAergic terminals (Puente et al., 2010).

In the brainstem, noradrenergic neurons of the LC and of the NTS express CB1 receptor protein (Jelsing et al., 2009; Carvalho et al., 2010). Using different binding assays, the CB1 receptor protein was detected within the noradrenergic nuclei on catecholaminergic terminals (Herkenham et al., 1991; Scavone et al., 2010). Noradrenergic terminals positive for the CB1 receptor were localized in the frontal cortex (Oropeza et al., 2007; Page et al., 2008). The two eCB degrading enzymes have so far not been anatomically detected within the LC. Only in the NTS, FAAH was found at protein level (Van Sickle et al., 2001).

Within the raphe nuclei, only a subfraction of serotonergic neurons express the CB1 receptor mRNA at very low levels (Häring et al., 2007). Nevertheless, CB1 receptor-positive serotonergic fibers could be detected in the hippocampus and the amygdala (Häring et al., 2007). Even though electrophysiological studies indicated the presence of the CB1 receptor on inhibitory and excitatory synapses within the raphe nuclei, anatomical evidence is still missing (Bambico et al., 2009; Haj-Dahmane and Shen, 2011). Regarding the distribution of the degrading enzymes, only FAAH was detected in the dorsal and median raphe region (Egertova et al., 2003).

Clear evidence for the eCB system could also be found within the HPA axis. The CB1 receptor was detected at mRNA and protein level in the PVN. Immunoreactivity is predominantly located on GABAergic terminals (Castelli et al. (2007), but it was only recently identified on glutamatergic neurons of the PVN (Hrabovszky et al., in press). Another study focusing on thyrothropin-releasing hormone neurons in the PVN also showed clear evidence for CB1 receptor-positive synapses on these cells (Deli et al., 2009). To date, the presence of FAAH and MAGL in the PVN has not been described in detail. Nevertheless, FAAH protein and MAGL mRNA have been identified at low levels in the complete hypothalamic region (Egertova et al., 1998; Dinh et al., 2002).

## PHARMACOLOGICAL AND GENETIC MODULATIONS OF eCB SYSTEM ACTIVITY AND THE EFFECTS ON STRESS RESPONSES

There is a large body of data showing that stress, emotionality, and the eCB system are strongly connected with each others. Thus, both changes in eCB signaling after stress as well as changes in stress responses after modulation of eCB system activity have been described.

#### Effects of stress on eCB system activity

The duration of the stressful stimuli is an important factor in determining the extent of the alterations of the eCB system. Acute stress induces rather short-term effects on eCB signaling. After exposure to acute restraint stress, tissue content of AEA was significantly decreased in the amygdala, presumably as a consequence of increased hydrolysis by FAAH. In contrast, 2-AG was unaltered within the limbic forebrain, medial PFC, amygdala, and cerebellum (Patel et al., 2005; Hill et al., 2009, 2011). Recent data suggested an additional effect of the HPA feedback mechanism in the PVN. Corticosterone application rapidly induced eCB synthesis in hypothalamic slices (Malcher-Lopes et al., 2006), but also in vivo in the hypothalamus (Evanson et al., 2010; Hill et al., 2010c), and in the medial PFC (Hill et al., 2011). A similar feature of corticosterone in stimulating the release of eCBs by a nongenomic mechanism was also observed in the basolateral amygdala (Campolongo et al., 2009; Hill and McEwen, 2009). Furthermore, corticosterone was found to rapidly suppress glutamate release from excitatory synapses in hypothalamic slices in a CB1 receptor-dependent manner (Di et al., 2003).

Thus, the eCB system seems to be involved in the fast feedback mechanism of the HPA axis. Activation of glucocorticoid receptor in the PVN by corticosterone induces the synthesis of eCBs, which then activate CB1 receptor on glutamatergic terminals. Hence, glutamate release is suppressed, leading to decreased activation of PVN neurons (Hill et al., 2010b), which in turn results in an attenuated stress response.

As persistent stress constitutes a main risk factor for neuropsychiatric diseases, such as depression, chronic stress models in rodents offer an attractive translational research line (Holsboer and Ising, 2010). Using such models, long-lasting changes in eCB signaling, which are based on expression changes of the CB1 receptor and/or eCB-synthesizing or eCB-degrading enzymes, were observed. In this regard, exposure to chronic stress impaired CB1 receptor function in GABAergic neurons of the rat hippocampus (Hu et al., 2011). In line with this finding, chronic stress altered eCB signaling in dorsal root ganglia neurons, which are affected by CRH and involved in stress-induced hyperalgesia (Hong et al., 2009). Furthermore, it was shown that chronic corticosterone treatment or repeated exposure to water avoidance stress resulted in a decrease in CB1 receptor levels and an increase in FAAH activity levels (Hong et al., 2010; Bowles et al., 2012). Changes in CB1 receptor expression levels were also observed in the hippocampus after exposure to chronic stress. Interestingly, the effect was seen predominantly in the dorsal fraction of the hippocampus and showed gender differences (Reich et al., 2009). Although in males, comparably high levels of CB1 receptor are downregulated, in females, rather low levels of CB1 receptor are increased as response to repeated stress (Reich et al., 2009). Moreover, chronic stress resulted in decreased CB1 receptor mRNA levels in both genders (Xing et al., 2011). A downregulation of CB1 receptor protein levels was also seen after maternal deprivation (Suárez et al., 2009). The same study showed a parallel increase in CB2 receptor expression, suggesting a switch in eCB signaling.

Regarding the eCB levels, chronic restraint stress results in a progressive increase in 2-AG content within the medial PFC, limbic forebrain, amygdala, hippocampus, and hypothalamus (Patel et al., 2005; Rademacher et al., 2008; Patel et al., 2009). Patel and colleagues also demonstrated decreased AEA levels in the amygdala after chronic restraint stress (Patel et al., 2005). Furthermore, following chronic corticosterone treatment, reduced AEA levels were observed in the hippocampus and the amygdala, which was caused by an increase in FAAH activity (Bowles et al., 2012). In the striatum, chronic unpredictable stress did not induce any change in the levels of 2-AG and AEA (Wang et al., 2010). Chronic corticosterone treatment also resulted in increased 2-AG contents in the amygdala and dorsal root ganglia (Hill et al., 2005; Hong et al., 2010). Hill and colleagues suggested that the effect of repeated stress on amygdala 2-AG content could be secondary to a persistent increase in glucocorticoid signaling (Hill et al., 2010a).

# Effects of pharmacological eCB system activity modulation on stress

Pharmacological modifications of the eCB system can reveal the relationship between eCB system activity and the molecular as well as the behavioral responses to stress. Thus, application of cannabinergic drugs directly influences excitatory and inhibitory inputs, respectively, to PVN neurons, resulting in an altered HPA axis activity. In behavioral paradigms of stress and anxiety, cannabinergic drugs have a strong influence on the behavioral outcome. During the last years, a "dual" role of eCB signaling could be evidenced by agonizing or antagonizing CB1 receptor activation (Moreira and Lutz, 2008). The literature showed that CB1 receptor agonist or CB1 receptor antagonist treatment could induce similar effects at the molecular and the behavioral level. Moreover, depending on the concentration of the cannabinergic drug, opposed effects could be observed. Therefore, eCB signaling can act as a "bidirectional" neuromodulator depending on its specific spatiotemporal modulation within neuronal circuits (Moreira and Lutz. 2008). As it was already pointed out earlier. these discrepancies are often been attributed to differences in dosage and treatment duration, experimental conditions, and species (Bambico et al., 2010; Zanettini et al., 2011). Thus, one possible explanation for this peculiar feature might be changes in the initial baseline stress level of an animal, which is controlled by a multitude of genetic. environmental, and experimental factors. This baseline might modulate the activity of the eCB system and by this, even though induced by opposite pharmacological interventions, results in a similar outcome (Wotjak, 2005; Viveros et al., 2005). Also allosteric modulation and internalization of the CB1 receptor as well as the recruitment of endocannabinoids to other receptors, such as TRPV1, GPR55, and GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor, are under discussion, resulting in a modulation of eCB signaling (Bosier et al., 2010; Pamplona and Takahashi, in press; Sigel et al., 2011). Another interesting explanation of the "dual" role of eCBs may be the differential CB1 receptor activation on different neuronal populations. Studies on cell typespecific CB1 receptor mutant mice, which will be discussed later, suggest CB1 receptor on glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons to be key players (Lafenêtre et al., 2009; Jacob et al., 2009; Häring et al., 2011).

At the molecular level, activation of the CB1 receptor with low doses of THC leads to an increase in plasma corticosterone levels, an effect blocked by low doses of the CB1 receptor inverse agonist rimonabant. Surprisingly, high doses of rimonabant failed to attenuate the THCinduced HPA axis activation and were shown to enhance corticosterone levels discretely (Manzanares et al., 1999). Accordingly, Patel et al. (2004) showed that under stressful conditions cannabinoid agonist administration can elicit a dose-dependent biphasic effect on corticosterone secretion. Although low agonist concentrations resulted in de-

creased plasma corticosterone levels, high agonist levels led to increased corticosterone secretion (Wenger et al., 2003; Patel et al., 2004; Wade et al., 2006). To dissect the involvement of different neurotransmitters on HPA axis activation, McLaughlin et al. (2009) coadministered a high dose of cannabinoid agonist and specific antagonists of the serotonergic, noradrenergic, and glutamatergic neurotransmitter system, respectively. This study revealed that activation of the HPA axis by cannabinoid treatment seemed to be mediated by serotonergic and noradrenergic, but not glutamatergic neurotransmission (McLaughlin et al. (2009), supporting previous results on the roles of monoamines on HPA axis activity. Thus, an increase in serotonergic transmission is followed by an increase in corticosterone levels, whereas blockade of serotonin signaling had the opposite effect (for review, see Leonard, 2005; Pompili et al., 2010). Congruently, the enhancement of noradrenergic transmission had similar effects (for review, see Forray and Gysling, 2004). The fact that the inhibition of ionotropic glutamatergic receptors had no effects is not surprising, as the ubiquitous activation of CB1 receptor will also attenuate glutamatergic transmission (Kano et al., 2009). Two other investigations further observed an increased activity of noradrenergic neurons after enhancing CB1 receptor signaling by application of a FAAH inhibitor or a CB1 receptor agonist (Gobbi et al., 2005; Muntoni et al., 2006).

Interestingly, these data suggest an indirect influence on serotonergic and noradrenergic neurons, hence, inhibitory interneurons within these two brainstem nuclei seem to play important roles. In fact, Muntoni and colleagues could show that CB1 receptor activation attenuated the inhibitory input from the nucleus prepositus hypoglossi, the main GABAergic input to the LC (Muntoni et al., 2006). However, strong evidence exists that also glutamatergic connections can be highly important, at least in the connection of the PFC to the raphe nuclei. The dissection of the PFC-dorsal raphe nucleus projection blocked the increase in serotonergic firing after local administration of a CB1 receptor agonist (low doses) into the PFC (Bambico et al., 2007). It is possible that glutamatergic neurons innervate inhibitory brainstem neurons, which regulate serotonin release, a mechanism already proposed previously (Celada et al., 2001), and which is also plausible for the LC.

Another important influence on the HPA axis activity is mediated by the BLA. Acute exposure to stress enhanced FAAH activity and thereby decreased AEA levels (Rademacher et al., 2008; Hill et al., 2009). Interestingly, local injection of CB1 receptor agonists and FAAH inhibitors into the BLA resulted in a reduction of HPA axis activation after stress (Ganon-Elazar and Akirav, 2009; Hill et al., 2009). Regarding the effect of cannabinoids on glutamate release within the BLA, Hill and colleagues suggested a model whereby stress interrupts a tonic AEA-induced CB1 receptor activation on glutamatergic terminals by increasing FAAH activity. The decrease in AEA levels leads to an increased output and increased HPA axis activity (Hill et al., 2010a). Somewhat contradictory is the finding of increased 2-AG levels after chronic stress in the amygdala (Hill et al., 2010a). Hence, 2-AG and AEA are divergently regulated by chronic stress. A possible explanation for this phenomenon might be a differential regulation of the 2-AG–degrading enzymes MAGL and ABHD6, respectively. Hill and colleagues suggested that increased 2-AG levels are highly important for the adaptation to stress (Hill et al., 2010a). It was proposed that 2-AG, like AEA, functions via CB1 receptor on glutamatergic terminals in the BLA, inhibiting excitatory input onto the amygdala. The subsequent attenuation of amygdala output decreases HPA axis activity.

At the behavioral level, similar biphasic effects of cannabinergic drugs can be observed resulting either in an antidepressant-like/anxiolytic, no effect, or a depressivelike/anxiogenic phenotype. In stress and anxiety paradigms, low doses of CB1 receptor agonist led to an antidepressant-like/anxiolytic effect (Gobbi et al., 2005; Bambico et al., 2007; Marco and Viveros, 2009), whereas high doses showed the opposite effect (Gobbi et al., 2005; Patel and Hillard, 2006; Egashira et al., 2008; Marco and Viveros, 2009). Regarding the CB1 receptor antagonist rimonabant, the situation seems to be more difficult, as similar doses induced both depressive-like/anxiogenic (Patel and Hillard, 2006; Steiner et al, 2008a; Marco et al., 2011) and antidepressant-like/anxiolytic response (Haller et al., 2009; Rodgers et al., 2003; Marco et al., 2011). The depressive-like/anxiogenic effects of rimonabant were also reported in humans, which ultimately led to the withdrawal of this antiobesity drug from the European market (Van Gaal et al., 2008; Doggrell, 2008; Marco et al., 2011).

As mentioned earlier, one hypothesis is the involvement of different neuronal populations in this biphasic effect of cannabinoids, as the CB1 receptor was found in various neuronal subpopulations. Depending on the strength of enhancement or attenuation of eCB signaling, distinct neuronal populations might be affected, leading to this biphasic effect. Nevertheless, solely pharmacological approaches are not able to clarify these issues in a satisfying manner.

# Genetic approaches for deciphering eCB-mediated stress circuits

Other studies investigated the impact of the eCB system on the HPA axis by genetic means. Global genetic deletion of the CB1 receptor enhances HPA axis activity, thus, resembling the effect of antagonist treatment. Moreover, CB1 receptor knockout mice exhibit elevated levels of CRH mRNA in the PVN, which indicates a sustained activation of the HPA axis (Cota et al., 2003, 2007; Steiner et al., 2008a). It also signifies an impairment of the fast feedback mechanism described previously (Cota, 2008; Steiner and Wotjak, 2008; Hill et al., 2010b). Thus, the increased HPA axis activity could be explained by the lack of CB1 receptor on glutamatergic terminals in the PVN and the inability of corticosterone-induced eCB synthesis to block glutamatergic drive (Cota et al., 2007; Steiner and Wotjak, 2008).

Steiner et al. (2008b) tried to dissect the impact of CB1 receptor activation at distinct neuronal populations on HPA axis function by using conditional CB1 receptor knockout mice. Here, CB1 receptor was deleted from GABAergic neurons and glutamatergic neurons of the forebrain and

subcortical regions, respectively. After forced swim stress, corticosterone plasma levels were increased in the glutamatergic CB1 receptor knockout mice, but remained unaltered in the GABAergic CB1 receptor knockout mice (Steiner et al., 2008b). These findings support the notion of a direct involvement of the CB1 receptor at glutamatergic terminals on HPA axis activation.

Other studies using the same mutant lines support the hypothesis that different neuronal populations might be involved in the biphasic molecular and behavioral effects (Lafenêtre et al., 2009; Jacob et al., 2009; Häring et al., 2011). In fact, these studies suggested CB1 receptor on glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons to be the key players in this phenomenon. Exposing animals lacking the CB1 receptor specifically either on glutamatergic neurons or GABAergic neurons to a novel stimulus revealed opposite behavioral phenotypes. Thus, Lafenêtre et al. (2009) could show that the deletion of the CB1 receptor from glutamatergic neurons leads to an attenuation of approaching and investigating the novel stimulus. In contrast, animals lacking the CB1 receptor specifically from GABAergic neurons displayed an enhanced novelty seeking (Lafenêtre et al., 2009). The anxiogenic-like behavior of the animals lacking the CB1 receptor on glutamatergic neurons was also seen by Jacob et al. (2009). Interestingly, the behavioral difference between the wild-type littermates and the mutants were mainly observed in object and social investigation paradigms. No difference was observed in classical anxiety paradigms, such as elevated plus maze and lightdark box, suggesting that a respective stimulus is required. At this point, Jacob et al. (2009) did not analyze the GABAergic-specific CB1 receptor deficient mice. An additional approach addressing specifically object and social investigation in the same two mutant lines, lacking the CB1 receptor either in glutamatergic or GABAergic neurons, underlined the opposite role of the receptor in these neuronal subpopulations (Häring et al., 2011). Taken together, these data suggest that the CB1 receptor on glutamatergic neurons mediates anxiolytic and on GABAergic neurons anxiogenic responses, respectively.

Apart from genetic manipulation of CB1 receptor expression, other studies characterized the effects of deleting or overexpressing different components of the eCB system. Especially, the blockade of eCB degradation emerged to be a promising path to target depressive disorders. Hence, pharmacological inhibition of eCB degradation enables to enhance several beneficial effects of direct cannabinoid receptor agonist, but simultaneously reducing side effects (Petrosino and Di Marzo, 2010). This phenomenon is explainable by the mechanism of action of the eCB system. As described earlier, CB1 receptors are activated on demand. Exogenous agonist or antagonist treatment artificially induces or blocks eCB signaling. In contrast, the blockade of eCB degradation only prolongs the eCB signaling, where it was already endogenously activated (e.g. Pan et al., 2009).

The generation of transgenic mice with ubiquitous loss of FAAH underlined the pharmacological findings. Thus, the deletion of FAAH enhances the signaling properties of AEA and was found to produce an antidepressant-like and anxiolytic-like effect (Moreira et al., 2008; Bambico et al., 2010). Interestingly, antidepressant-like effects of cannabinergic drugs seem also to be dependent on serotonin transmission (Bambico et al., 2010). Regarding the CB2 receptor, blockade of receptor function by antisense oligonucleotides as well as by pharmacological approaches induced an anxiolytic response (Onaivi et al., 2008). In line with these findings, overexpression of the CB2 receptor reduced depressive-like behavior (García-Gutiérrez et al., 2010, 2011). The analysis of a nucleotide polymorphism in the CB2 receptor gene locus even suggests a correlation between decreased receptor function and an increased incidence in schizophrenia (Ishiguro et al., 2010).

# COMBINING VIRAL INJECTIONS, CONDITIONAL MUTAGENESIS, AND PHARMACOLOGY TO REVEAL DISTINCT eCB SYSTEM FUNCTIONS: A NOVEL APPROACH

Global pharmacological and genetic manipulations of the eCB system have enabled to retrieve its major molecular and cellular properties, also within the context of the entire organism. Local microinjections of drugs modulating eCB system activity in combination with the manipulation of other neurotransmitter systems even revealed subregional functions and the involvement of distinct neuronal subpopulations (Ganon-Elazar and Akirav, 2009; Hill et al., 2009; McLaughlin et al., 2009). Nevertheless, to dissect cell type- and region-specific roles of the eCB system, more sophisticated and neuron-specific analyses are reguired. First steps have been made using transgenic mice, lacking the CB1 receptor in a specific neuronal population by exploiting the Cre/loxP system (Monory and Lutz, 2009) (Fig. 2A). This powerful genetic tool has established new vista on cell type-specific gene function in the nervous system in the context of neuronal networks (Gavériaux-Ruff and Kieffer, 2007), but possible caveats have to be considered using this approach, such as compensatory processes or disturbances of complex neuronal interactions, leading to possible misinterpretations of the phenotypes observed (Alger, 2006). One step further in these genetic analyses is the combination of transgenic animals and local injections of an adequate viral vector, such as the adeno-associated virus (AAV). Since Kaplitt and colleagues provided proof for a safe and efficient AAV mediated CNS gene transfer (Kaplitt et al., 1994), recombinant AAV vectors have become increasingly popular in CNS gene delivery applications because of their lack of pathogenicity, neurotropism, and ability to establish sustained transgene expression with very little tendency to integrate into the genome of the host cell. The combination of mouse genetics and AAV gene delivery could be used to delete a gene of interest in a specific brain region or even in a specific nucleus. In this approach, a transgenic mouse line carries a gene that is flanked by two loxP sites (a floxed/ floxed mouse), and AAV expressing Cre recombinase is injected into the brain region of interest (Fig. 2B<sub>1</sub>). This approach was already implemented previously and



**Fig. 2.** Schematic illustration of genetic and viral approaches using the Cre/loxP system. Four cells are depicted in each mouse comprising two different cell types (green and blue color) and two different brain regions (the two cells on the left and right part, respectively, separated by a black line). (A) Deletion of GOI in a cell type-specific manner using the Cre/loxP system by using a crossing procedure, starting with a floxed/floxed GOI mouse line and a transgenic mouse line expressing Cre recombinase in a cell type-specific manner. (B<sub>1</sub>) Region-specific deletion of a GOI by stereotactic injection of a recombinant virus, expressing Cre recombinase under the control of a constitutive promoter, into a floxed/floxed GOI mouse line. (B<sub>2</sub>) Similar approach as in B<sub>1</sub>, but because of the cell type-specific promoter driving Cre recombinase expression, the GOI is deleted both in a region- and cell type-specific manner. (C) Complementary approach as described in B<sub>2</sub> to achieve cell type-specific overexpression of GOI. Transgenic mouse line expressing Cre recombinase in a cell type-specific on the viral construct contains a GOI, which is transcriptionally silenced by a Stop cassette flanked by loxP sites. After injection, the Stop cassette is excised in the cells expressing Cre recombinase, transcriptional silencing is abolished, and the GOI will be expressed. Abbreviations: GOI, gene of interest; pA, polyadenylation signal; Stop cassette, sequences containing transcriptional termination signals.

showed that the CB1 receptor deletion from hippocampal neurons led to an increased susceptibility to chemically induced seizures (Monory et al., 2006). An advanced version of this approach will be the use of a cell type-specific promoter driving Cre recombinase expression in the viral construct (Fig. 2B<sub>2</sub>). The utilization of this strategy allows a local and cell type-specific gene deletion. Furthermore, this strategy can be used to overexpress a gene of interest (GOI), by exchanging the Cre recombinase gene with the GOI sequence. Although the approach described in Fig. 2B<sub>2</sub> seems to be a very elegant strategy, it also has a major drawback, given by the limited packaging capacity of the AAV and the complexity of promoter regions. In respect to cell type-specific overexpression of a GOI, another strategy is very promising. Here, a transgenic mouse line defines cell type-specificity by driving Cre recombinase under cell typespecific regulatory sequences. Brain region specificity is determined by the stereotaxic injection of AAV, whose transgene expression is depending on the presence of Cre recombinase by excising a transcriptional Stop cassette (Fig. 2C). Guggenhuber and colleagues used this approach and showed that CB1 receptor overexpression in hippocampal pyramidal neurons resulted in enhanced protection against chemically induced excitotoxicity (Guggenhuber et al., 2010).

The eCB system can affect the output of several neurotransmitter systems and numerous brain regions that are involved in ensuring adequate stress responses. Experiments using the genetic approaches described earlier would be highly valuable and necessary to dissect distinct cell type-specific functions of the eCB system. In this context, brain region-specific deletion of the CB1 receptor or brain region- and cell type-specific CB1 receptor overexpression and its effect on stress behavior would be a very promising approach. Furthermore, the AAV gene delivery would not need to be restricted to genes such as the CB1 receptor or Cre recombinase. Focusing on the enzymes involved in the eCB metabolism would also be of great importance, as AEA and 2-AG levels are altered in several brain regions after chronic stress (Patel et al., 2005; Rademacher et al., 2008; Bowles et al., 2012).

# SUMMARY: eCB SYSTEM MEDIATES DIFFERENTIAL FUNCTIONS ON DIFFERENT NEURONS

Taken together, HPA axis activity is influenced by distinct neurotransmitter systems present in specific brain regions. Thus, an adequate behavioral response to a stressful situation depends not only on the functionality of the HPA axis, but also on brain regions innervating PVN neurons and on the crosstalk between these structures. The aggregate relay of associational information determines the induction of a stress response and therewith the secretion of glucocorticoids. We described that the eCB system plays a critical role in the synaptic and neuronal organization of these stress circuits, since the CB1 receptor is located within each circuit at multiple sites. Pharmacological and genetic approaches have helped understanding the importance and main functions of these connections in a remarkable manner. Nevertheless, distinct pathways have still to be analyzed in more detail. Of special interest should be the function of the eCB system in neuronal subpopulations in specific brain structures. We propose combinational approaches using genetic and pharmacological tools to specifically interfere with eCB signaling.

Acknowledgments—This work was supported by the German Research Foundation DFG (FOR926 to B.L.).

#### REFERENCES

- Alger BE (2006) Not too excited? Thank your endocannabinoids. Neuron 51:393–395.
- Amaral DG, Witter MP (1989) The three-dimensional organization of the hippocampal formation: a review of anatomical data. Neuroscience 31:571–591.
- Aston-Jones G, Zhu Y, Card JP (2004) Numerous GABAergic afferents to locus ceruleus in the pericerulear dendritic zone: possible interneuronal pool. J Neurosci 24:2313–2321.
- Azad SC, Kurz J, Marsicano G, Lutz B, Zieglgänsberger W, Rammes G (2008) Activation of CB1 specifically located on GABAergic interneurons inhibits LTD in the lateral amygdala. Learn Mem 15:143–152.
- Baker D, Pryce G, Davies WL, Hiley CR (2006) In silico patent searching reveals a new cannabinoid receptor. Trends Pharmacol Sci 27:1–4.
- Bambico FR, Cassano T, Dominguez-Lopez S, Katz N, Walker CD, Piomelli D, Gobbi G (2010) Genetic deletion of fatty acid amide hydrolase alters emotional behavior and serotonergic transmission in the dorsal raphe, prefrontal cortex, and hippocampus. Neuropsychopharmacology 35:2083–2100.
- Bambico FR, Katz N, Debonnel G, Gobbi G (2007) Cannabinoids elicit antidepressant-like behavior and activate serotonergic neurons through the medial prefrontal cortex. J Neurosci 27:11700–11711.
- Bambico FR, Nguyen NT, Gobbi G (2009) Decline in serotonergic firing activity and desensitization of 5-HT1A autoreceptors after chronic unpredictable stress. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 19:215–228.
- Basavarajappa BS (2007) Critical enzymes involved in endocannabinoid metabolism. Protein Pept Lett 14:237–246.
- Benes FM (2010) Amygdalocortical circuitry in schizophrenia: from circuits to molecules. Neuropsychopharmacology 35:239–257.
- Bosier B, Muccioli GG, Hermans E, Lambert DM (2010) Functionally selective cannabinoid receptor signalling: therapeutic implications and opportunities. Biochem Pharmacol 80:1–12.
- Bowles NP, Hill MN, Bhagat SM, Karatsoreos IN, Hillard CJ, McEwen BS (2012) Chronic, noninvasive glucocorticoid administration suppresses limbic endocannabinoid signaling in mice. Neuroscience.
- Campolongo P, Roozendaal B, Trezza V, Hauer D, Schelling G, McGaugh JL, Cuomo V (2009) Endocannabinoids in the rat basolateral amygdala enhance memory consolidation and enable glucocorticoid modulation of memory. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:4888–4893.
- Carvalho AF, Mackie K, Van Bockstaele EJ (2010) Cannabinoid modulation of limbic forebrain noradrenergic circuitry. Eur J Neurosci 31:286–301.
- Castelli MP, Piras AP, Melis T, Succu S, Sanna F, Melis MR, Collu S, Ennas MG, Diaz G, Mackie K, Argiolas A (2007) Cannabinoid CB1 receptors in the paraventricular nucleus and central control of penile erection: immunocytochemistry, autoradiography and behavioral studies. Neuroscience 147:197–206.
- Celada P, Puig MV, Casanovas JM, Guillazo G, Artigas F (2001) Control of dorsal raphe serotonergic neurons by the medial prefrontal cortex: involvement of serotonin-1A, GABA(A), and glutamate receptors. J Neurosci 21:9917–9929.

- Charnay Y, Leger L (2010) Brain serotonergic circuitries. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 12:471–487.
- Chávez AE, Chiu CQ, Castillo PE (2010) TRPV1 activation by endogenous anandamide triggers postsynaptic long-term depression in dentate gyrus. Nat Neurosci 13:1511–1518.
- Cota D (2008) The role of the endocannabinoid system in the regulation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity. J Neuroendocrinol 20 (Suppl 1):35–38.
- Cota D, Marsicano G, Tschöp M, Grübler Y, Flachskamm C, Schubert M, Auer D, Yassouridis A, Thöne-Reineke C, Ortmann S, Tomassoni F, Cervino C, Nisoli E, Linthorst AC, Pasquali R, Lutz B, Stalla GK, Pagotto U (2003) The endogenous cannabinoid system affects energy balance via central orexigenic drive and peripheral lipogenesis. J Clin Invest 112:423–431.
- Cota D, Steiner MA, Marsicano G, Cervino C, Herman JP, Grubler Y, Stalla J, Pasquali R, Lutz B, Stalla GK, Pagotto U (2007) Requirement of cannabinoid receptor type 1 for the basal modulation of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis function. Endocrinology 148: 1574–1581.
- Cristino L, Starowicz K, De Petrocellis L, Morishita J, Ueda N, Guglielmotti V, Di Marzo V (2008) Immunohistochemical localization of anabolic and catabolic enzymes for anandamide and other putative endovanilloids in the hippocampus and cerebellar cortex of the mouse brain. Neuroscience 151:955–968.
- Csáki A, Kocsis K, Halász B, Kiss J (2000) Localization of glutamatergic/aspartatergic neurons projecting to the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus studied by retrograde transport of [3H]D-aspartate autoradiography. Neuroscience 101:637–655.
- Cunningham ET Jr., Bohn MC, Sawchenko PE (1990) Organization of adrenergic inputs to the paraventricular and supraoptic nuclei of the hypothalamus in the rat. J Comp Neurol 292:651–667.
- De Petrocellis L, Di Marzo V (2010) Non-CB1, non-CB2 receptors for endocannabinoids, plant cannabinoids, and synthetic cannabimimetics: focus on G-protein-coupled receptors and transient receptor potential channels. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol 5:103–121.
- Dedovic K, Duchesne A, Andrews J, Engert V, Pruessner JC (2009) The brain and the stress axis: the neural correlates of cortisol regulation in response to stress. Neuroimage 47:864–871.
- Degroot A, Köfalvi A, Wade MR, Davis RJ, Rodrigues RJ, Rebola N, Cunha RA, Nomikos GG (2006) CB1 receptor antagonism increases hippocampal acetylcholine release: site and mechanism of action. Mol Pharmacol 70:1236–1245.
- Del Arco A, Mora F (2009) Neurotransmitters and prefrontal cortexlimbic system interactions: implications for plasticity and psychiatric disorders. J Neural Transm 116:941–952.
- Deli L, Wittmann G, Kallo I, Lechan RM, Watanabe M, Liposits Z, Fekete C (2009) Type 1 cannabinoid receptor-containing axons innervate hypophysiotropic thyrotropin-releasing hormone-synthesizing neurons. Endocrinology 150:98–103.
- Devane WA, Hanus L, Breuer A, Pertwee RG, Stevenson LA, Griffin G, Gibson D, Mandelbaum A, Etinger A, Mechoulam R (1992) Isolation and structure of a brain constituent that binds to the cannabinoid receptor. Science 258:1946–1949.
- Di S, Malcher-Lopes R, Halmos KC, Tasker JG (2003) Nongenomic glucocorticoid inhibition via endocannabinoid release in the hypothalamus: a fast feedback mechanism. J Neurosci 23:4850–4857.
- Dinh TP, Carpenter D, Leslie FM, Freund TF, Katona I, Sensi SL, Kathuria S, Piomelli D (2002) Brain monoglyceride lipase participating in endocannabinoid inactivation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:10819–10824.
- Doggrell SA (2008) Is rimonabant efficacious and safe in the treatment of obesity? Expert Opin Pharmacother 9:2727–2731.
- Dong HW, Petrovich GD, Swanson LW (2001) Topography of projections from amygdala to bed nuclei of the stria terminalis. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 38:192–246.
- Egashira N, Matsuda T, Koushi E, Higashihara F, Mishima K, Chidori S, Hasebe N, Iwasaki K, Nishimura R, Oishi R, Fujiwara M (2008) Delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol prolongs the immobility time in the

mouse forced swim test: involvement of cannabinoid CB(1) receptor and serotonergic system. Eur J Pharmacol 589:117–121.

- Egertova M, Cravatt BF, Elphick MR (2003) Comparative analysis of fatty acid amide hydrolase and cb(1) cannabinoid receptor expression in the mouse brain: evidence of a widespread role for fatty acid amide hydrolase in regulation of endocannabinoid signaling. Neuroscience 119:481–496.
- Egertova M, Giang DK, Cravatt BF, Elphick MR (1998) A new perspective on cannabinoid signalling: complementary localization of fatty acid amide hydrolase and the CB1 receptor in rat brain. Proc Biol Sci 265:2081–2085.
- Ehrlich I, Humeau Y, Grenier F, Ciocchi S, Herry C, Lüthi A (2009) Amygdala inhibitory circuits and the control of fear memory. Neuron 62:757–771.
- Evanson NK, Tasker JG, Hill MN, Hillard CJ, Herman JP (2010) Fast feedback inhibition of the HPA axis by glucocorticoids is mediated by endocannabinoid signaling. Endocrinology 151:4811–4819.
- Fitzgerald PJ (2011) A neurochemical yin and yang: does serotonin activate and norepinephrine deactivate the prefrontal cortex? Psychopharmacology (Berl) 213:171–182.
- Forray MI, Gysling K (2004) Role of noradrenergic projections to the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis in the regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 47:145–160.
- Fu J, Bottegoni G, Sasso O, Bertorelli R, Rocchia W, Masetti M, Guijarro A, Lodola A, Armirotti A, Garau G, Bandiera T, Reggiani A, Mor M, Cavalli A, Piomelli D (2011) A catalytically silent FAAH-1 variant drives anandamide transport in neurons. Nat Neurosci 15:64–69.
- Fusar-Poli P, Crippa JA, Bhattacharyya S, Borgwardt SJ, Allen P, Martin-Santos R, Seal M, Surguladze SA, O'Carrol C, Atakan Z, Zuardi AW, McGuire PK (2009) Distinct effects of {delta}9-tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol on neural activation during emotional processing. Arch Gen Psychiatry 66:95–105.
- Ganon-Elazar E, Akirav I (2009) Cannabinoid receptor activation in the basolateral amygdala blocks the effects of stress on the conditioning and extinction of inhibitory avoidance. J Neurosci 29:11078– 11088.
- García-Gutiérrez MS, Manzanares J (2011) Overexpression of CB2 cannabinoid receptors decreased vulnerability to anxiety and impaired anxiolytic action of alprazolam in mice. J Psychopharmacol 25:111–120.
- García-Gutiérrez MS, Pérez-Ortiz JM, Gutiérrez-Adán A, Manzanares J (2010) Depression-resistant endophenotype in mice overexpressing cannabinoid CB(2) receptors. Br J Pharmacol 160: 1773–1784.
- Gavériaux-Ruff C, Kieffer BL (2007) Conditional gene targeting in the mouse nervous system: insights into brain function and diseases. Pharmacol Ther 113:619–634.
- Gobbi G, Bambico FR, Mangieri R, Bortolato M, Campolongo P, Solinas M, Cassano T, Morgese MG, Debonnel G, Duranti A, Tontini A, Tarzia G, Mor M, Trezza V, Goldberg SR, Cuomo V, Piomelli D (2005) Antidepressant-like activity and modulation of brain monoaminergic transmission by blockade of anandamide hydrolysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:18620–18625.
- Guggenhuber S, Monory K, Lutz B, Klugmann M (2010) AAV vectormediated overexpression of CB1 cannabinoid receptor in pyramidal neurons of the hippocampus protects against seizure-induced excitoxicity. PLoS One 5:e15707.
- Gulyas AI, Cravatt BF, Bracey MH, Dinh TP, Piomelli D, Boscia F, Freund TF (2004) Segregation of two endocannabinoid-hydrolyzing enzymes into pre- and postsynaptic compartments in the rat hippocampus, cerebellum and amygdala. Eur J Neurosci 20:441– 458.
- Haj-Dahmane S, Shen RY (2011) Modulation of the serotonin system by endocannabinoid signaling. Neuropharmacology 61:414–420.
- Haller J, Barna I, Barsvari B, Gyimesi Pelczer K, Yasar S, Panlilio LV, Goldberg S (2009) Interactions between environmental aversive-

ness and the anxiolytic effects of enhanced cannabinoid signaling by FAAH inhibition in rats. Psychopharmacology 204:607–616.

- Häring M, Kaiser N, Monory K, Lutz B (2011) Circuit specific functions of cannabinoid CB1 receptor in the balance of investigatory drive and exploration. PLoS One 6:e26617.
- Häring M, Marsicano G, Lutz B, Monory K (2007) Identification of the cannabinoid receptor type 1 in serotonergic cells of raphe nuclei in mice. Neuroscience 146:1212–1219.
- Herkenham M, Lynn AB, de Costa BR, Richfield EK (1991) Neuronal localization of cannabinoid receptors in the basal ganglia of the rat. Brain Res 547:267–274.
- Herman JP, Figueiredo H, Mueller NK, Ulrich-Lai Y, Ostrander MM, Choi DC, Cullinan WE (2003) Central mechanisms of stress integration: hierarchical circuitry controlling hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical responsiveness. Front Neuroendocrinol 24:151–180.
- Hill MN, Gorzalka BB (2005) Pharmacological enhancement of cannabinoid CB1 receptor activity elicits an antidepressant-like response in the rat forced swim test. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 15:593–599.
- Hill MN, Karatsoreos IN, Hillard CJ, McEwen BS (2010c) Rapid elevations in limbic endocannabinoid content by glucocorticoid hormones in vivo. Psychoneuroendocrinology 35:1333–1338.
- Hill MN, McEwen BS (2009) Endocannabinoids: the silent partner of glucocorticoids in the synapse. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:4579–4580.
- Hill MN, McEwen BS (2010) Involvement of the endocannabinoid system in the neurobehavioural effects of stress and glucocorticoids. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 34:791–797.
- Hill MN, McLaughlin RJ, Bingham B, Shrestha L, Lee TT, Gray JM, Hillard CJ, Gorzalka BB, Viau V (2010a) Endogenous cannabinoid signaling is essential for stress adaptation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:9406–9411.
- Hill MN, McLaughlin RJ, Morrish AC, Viau V, Floresco SB, Hillard CJ, Gorzalka BB (2009) Suppression of amygdalar endocannabinoid signaling by stress contributes to activation of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis. Neuropsychopharmacology 34:2733–2745.
- Hill MN, McLaughlin RJ, Pan B, Fitzgerald ML, Roberts CJ, Lee TT, Karatsoreos IN, Mackie K, Viau V, Pickel VM, McEwen BS, Liu QS, Gorzalka BB, Hillard CJ (2011) Recruitment of prefrontal cortical endocannabinoid signaling by glucocorticoids contributes to termination of the stress response. J Neurosci 31:10506–10515.
- Hill MN, Patel S, Campolongo P, Tasker JG, Wotjak CT, Bains JS (2010b) Functional interactions between stress and the endocannabinoid system: from synaptic signaling to behavioral output. J Neurosci 30:14980–14986.
- Hill MN, Patel S, Carrier EJ, Rademacher DJ, Ormerod BK, Hillard CJ, Gorzalka BB (2005) Downregulation of endocannabinoid signaling in the hippocampus following chronic unpredictable stress. Neuropsychopharmacology 30:508–515.
- Hillard CJ, Edgemond WS, Jarrahian A, Campbell WB (1997) Accumulation of *N*-arachidonoylethanolamine (anandamide) into cerebellar granule cells occurs via facilitated diffusion. J Neurochem 69:631–638.
- Holsboer F, Ising M (2010) Stress hormone regulation: biological role and translation into therapy. Annu Rev Psychol 61:81–109.
- Hong S, Fan J, Kemmerer ES, Evans S, Li Y, Wiley JW (2009) Reciprocal changes in vanilloid (TRPV1) and endocannabinoid (CB1) receptors contribute to visceral hyperalgesia in the water avoidance stressed rat. Gut 58:202–210.
- Hong S, Zheng G, Wu X, Snider NT, Owyang C, Wiley JW (2010) Corticosterone mediates reciprocal changes in CB1 and TRPV1 receptors in primary sensory neurons in the chronically stressed rat. Gastroenterology 140:627.e4–637.e4.
- Hrabovszky E, Wittmann G, Kallo I, Fuzesi T, Fekete C, Liposits Z (in press) Distribution of type 1 cannabinoid receptor expressing neurons in the septal-hypothalamic region of the mouse. Colocalization with GABAergic and glutamatergic markers. J Comp Neurol, in press.

- Hu W, Zhang M, Czéh B, Zhang W, Flügge G (2011) Chronic restraint stress impairs endocannabinoid mediated suppression of GABAergic signaling in the hippocampus of adult male rats. Brain Res Bull 85:374–379.
- Ishiguro H, Horiuchi Y, Ishikawa M, Koga M, Imai K, Suzuki Y, Morikawa M, Inada T, Watanabe Y, Takahashi M, Someya T, Ujike H, Iwata N, Ozaki N, Onaivi ES, Kunugi H, Sasaki T, Itokawa M, Arai M, Niizato K, Iritani S, Naka I, Ohashi J, Kakita A, Takahashi H, Nawa H, Arinami T (2010) Brain cannabinoid CB2 receptor in schizophrenia. Biol Psych 67:974–982.
- Jacob W, Yassouridis A, Marsicano G, Monory K, Lutz B, Wotjak CT (2009) Endocannabinoids render exploratory behaviour largely independent of the test aversiveness: role of glutamatergic transmission. Genes Brain Behav 8:685–698.
- Jankord R, Herman JP (2008) Limbic regulation of hypothalamopituitary-adrenocortical function during acute and chronic stress. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1148:64–73.
- Jelsing J, Galzin AM, Guillot E, Pruniaux MP, Larsen PJ, Vrang N (2009) Localization and phenotypic characterization of brainstem neurons activated by rimonabant and WIN55, 212-2. Brain Res Bull 78:202–210.
- Kamprath K, Romo-Parra H, Haring M, Gaburro S, Doengi M, Lutz B, Pape HC (2010) Short-term adaptation of conditioned fear responses through endocannabinoid signaling in the central amygdala. Neuropsychopharmacology 36:652–663.
- Kano M, Ohno-Shosaku T, Hashimotodani Y, Uchigashima M, Watanabe M (2009) Endocannabinoid-mediated control of synaptic transmission. Physiol Rev 89:309–380.
- Kaplitt MG, Leone P, Samulski RJ, Xiao X, Pfaff DW, O'Malley KL, During MJ (1994) Long-term gene expression and phenotypic correction using adeno-associated virus vectors in the mammalian brain. Nat Genet 8:148–154.
- Kathuria S, Gaetani S, Fegley D, Valiño F, Duranti A, Tontini A, Mor M, Tarzia G, La Rana G, Calignano A, Giustino A, Tattoli M, Palmery M, Cuomo V, Piomelli D (2003) Modulation of anxiety through blockade of anandamide hydrolysis. Nat Med 9:76–81.
- Kawamura Y, Fukaya M, Maejima T, Yoshida T, Miura E, Watanabe M, Ohno-Shosaku T, Kano M (2006) The CB1 cannabinoid receptor is the major cannabinoid receptor at excitatory presynaptic sites in the hippocampus and cerebellum. J Neurosci 26:2991–3001.
- Keimpema E, Barabas K, Morozov YM, Tortoriello G, Torii M, Cameron G, Yanagawa Y, Watanabe M, Mackie K, Harkany T (2010) Differential subcellular recruitment of monoacylglycerol lipase generates spatial specificity of 2-arachidonoyl glycerol signaling during axonal pathfinding. J Neurosci 30:13992–14007.
- Krettek JE, Price JL (1978) Amygdaloid projections to subcortical structures within the basal forebrain and brainstem in the rat and cat. J Comp Neurol 178:225–254.
- Lafenêtre P, Chaouloff F, Marsicano G (2009) Bidirectional regulation of novelty-induced behavioral inhibition by the endocannabinoid system. Neuropharmacology 57:715–721.
- Leonard BE (2005) The HPA and immune axes in stress: the involvement of the serotonergic system. Eur Psychiatry 20 (Suppl 3):S302–S306.
- Levitt P, Moore RY (1978) Developmental organization of raphe serotonin neuron groups in the rat. Anat Embryol (Berl) 154:241–251.
- Lowry CA (2002) Functional subsets of serotonergic neurones: implications for control of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. J Neuroendocrinol 14:911–923.
- Loy R, Koziell DA, Lindsey JD, Moore RY (1980) Noradrenergic innervation of the adult rat hippocampal formation. J Comp Neurol 189:699–710.
- Luppi PH, Aston-Jones G, Akaoka H, Chouvet G, Jouvet M (1995) Afferent projections to the rat locus coeruleus demonstrated by retrograde and anterograde tracing with cholera-toxin B subunit and Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin. Neuroscience 65:119– 160.

- Lutz B (2009) Endocannabinoid signals in the control of emotion. Curr Opin Pharmacol 9:46–52.
- Mackie K (2005) Distribution of cannabinoid receptors in the central and peripheral nervous system. Handb Exp Pharmacol: 299–325.
- Malcher-Lopes R, Di S, Marcheselli VS, Weng FJ, Stuart CT, Bazan NG, Tasker JG (2006) Opposing crosstalk between leptin and glucocorticoids rapidly modulates synaptic excitation via endocannabinoid release. J Neurosci 26:6643–6650.
- Manzanares J, Corchero J, Fuentes JA (1999) Opioid and cannabinoid receptor-mediated regulation of the increase in adrenocorticotropin hormone and corticosterone plasma concentrations induced by central administration of delta(9)-tetrahydrocannabinol in rats. Brain Res 839:173–179.
- Marco EM, Garcia-Gutierrez MS, Bermudez-Silva FJ, Moreira FA, Guimaraes F, Manzanares J, Viveros MP (2011) Endocannabinoid system and psychiatry: in search of a neurobiological basis for detrimental and potential therapeutic effects. Front Behav Neurosci 5:63.
- Marco EM, Viveros MP (2009) The critical role of the endocannabinoid system in emotional homeostasis: avoiding excess and deficiencies. Mini Rev Med Chem 9:1407–1415.
- Marrs WR, Blankman JL, Horne EA, Thomazeau A, Lin YH, Coy J, Bodor AL, Muccioli GG, Hu SS, Woodruff G, Fung S, Lafourcade M, Alexander JP, Long JZ, Li W, Xu C, Möller T, Mackie K, Manzoni OJ, Cravatt BF, Stella N (2010) The serine hydrolase ABHD6 controls the accumulation and efficacy of 2-AG at cannabinoid receptors. Nat Neurosci 13:951–957.
- Marsicano G, Kuner R (2008) Anatomical distribution of receptors, ligands and enzymes in the brain and the spinal cord: circuitries and neurochemistry. In: Cannabinoids and the brain (Kofalvi A, ed), pp 161–202. New York: Springer.
- Marsicano G, Lutz B (1999) Expression of the cannabinoid receptor CB1 in distinct neuronal subpopulations in the adult mouse forebrain. Eur J Neurosci 11:4213–4225.
- Matsuda LA, Lolait SJ, Brownstein MJ, Young AC, Bonner TI (1990) Structure of a cannabinoid receptor and functional expression of the cloned cDNA. Nature 346:561–564.
- McDonald AJ (1982) Neurons of the lateral and basolateral amygdaloid nuclei: a Golgi study in the rat. J Comp Neurol 212:293–312.
- McLaughlin RJ, Hill MN, Gorzalka BB (2009) Monoaminergic neurotransmission contributes to cannabinoid-induced activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. Eur J Pharmacol 624: 71–76.
- Millhouse OE (1986) The intercalated cells of the amygdala. J Comp Neurol 247:246–271.
- Molliver ME (1987) Serotonergic neuronal systems: what their anatomic organization tells us about function. J Clin Psychopharmacol 7:3S–23S.
- Monory K, Lutz B (2009) Genetic models of the endocannabinoid system. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 1:111–139.
- Monory K, Massa F, Egertová M, Eder M, Blaudzun H, Westenbroek R, Kelsch W, Jacob W, Marsch R, Ekker M, Long J, Rubenstein JL, Goebbels S, Nave KA, During M, Klugmann M, Wölfel B, Dodt HU, Zieglgänsberger W, Wotjak CT, Mackie K, Elphick MR, Marsicano G, Lutz B (2006) The endocannabinoid system controls key epileptogenic circuits in the hippocampus. Neuron 51:455–466.
- Moreira FA, Kaiser N, Monory K, Lutz B (2008) Reduced anxiety-like behaviour induced by genetic and pharmacological inhibition of the endocannabinoid-degrading enzyme fatty acid amide hydrolase (FAAH) is mediated by CB1 receptors. Neuropharmacology 54:141–150.
- Moreira FA, Lutz B (2008) The endocannabinoid system: emotion, learning and addiction. Addict Biol 13:196–212.
- Moreira FA, Wotjak CT (2010) Cannabinoids and anxiety. Curr Top Behav Neurosci 2:429–450.
- Morozov YM, Torii M, Rakic P (2009) Origin, early commitment, migratory routes, and destination of cannabinoid type 1 receptorcontaining interneurons. Cereb Cortex 19 (Suppl 1):i78–i89.

- Muntoni AL, Pillolla G, Melis M, Perra S, Gessa GL, Pistis M (2006) Cannabinoids modulate spontaneous neuronal activity and evoked inhibition of locus coeruleus noradrenergic neurons. Eur J Neurosci 23:2385–2394.
- Myers CE, Scharfman HE (2011) Pattern separation in the dentate gyrus: a role for the CA3 backprojection. Hippocampus 21: 1190–1215.
- Nevalainen T, Irving AJ (2010) GPR55, a lysophosphatidylinositol receptor with cannabinoid sensitivity? Curr Top Med Chem 10:799–813.
- O'Sullivan SE, Kendall DA (2010) Cannabinoid activation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: potential for modulation of inflammatory disease. Immunobiolog 215:611–616.
- Onaivi ES, Ishiguro H, Gong JP, Patel S, Meozzi PA, Myers L, Perchuk A, Mora Z, Tagliaferro PA, Gardner E, Brusco A, Akinshola BE, Hope B, Lujilde J, Inada T, Iwasaki S, Macharia D, Teasenfitz L, Arinami T, Uhl GR (2008) Brain neuronal CB2 cannabinoid receptors in drug abuse and depression: from mice to human subjects. PLoS One 3:e1640.
- Onaivi ES, Ishiguro H, Gong JP, Patel S, Perchuk A, Meozzi PA, Myers L, Mora Z, Tagliaferro P, Gardner E, Brusco A, Akinshola BE, Liu QR, Hope B, Iwasaki S, Arinami T, Teasenfitz L, Uhl GR (2006) Discovery of the presence and functional expression of cannabinoid CB2 receptors in brain. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1074:514–536.
- Onaivi ES, Ishiguro H, Gu S, Liu QR (in press) CNS effects of CB2 cannabinoid receptors: beyond neuro-immuno-cannabinoid activity. J Psychopharmacol, in press.
- Ongür D, Price JL (2000) The organization of networks within the orbital and medial prefrontal cortex of rats, monkeys and humans. Cereb Cortex 10:206–219.
- Oropeza VC, Mackie K, Van Bockstaele EJ (2007) Cannabinoid receptors are localized to noradrenergic axon terminals in the rat frontal cortex. Brain Res 1127:36–44.
- Page ME, Oropeza VC, Van Bockstaele EJ (2008) Local administration of a cannabinoid agonist alters norepinephrine efflux in the rat frontal cortex. Neurosci Lett 431:1–5.
- Pamplona FA, Takahashi RN (in press) Psychopharmacology of the endocannabinoids: far beyond anandamide. J Psychopharmacol, in press.
- Pan B, Wang W, Long JZ, Sun D, Hillard CJ, Cravatt BF, Liu QS (2009) Blockade of 2-arachidonoylglycerol hydrolysis by selective monoacylglycerol lipase inhibitor 4-nitrophenyl 4-(dibenzo[d][1,3]dioxol-5-yl(hydroxy)methyl)piperidine-1-carboxylate (JZL184) enhances retrograde endocannabinoid signaling. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 331:591–597.
- Pape HC, Pare D (2010) Plastic synaptic networks of the amygdala for the acquisition, expression, and extinction of conditioned fear. Physiol Rev 90:419–463.
- Patel S, Hillard CJ (2006) Pharmacological evaluation of cannabinoid receptor ligands in a mouse model of anxiety: further evidence for an anxiolytic role for endogenous cannabinoid signaling. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 318:304–311.
- Patel S, Kingsley PJ, Mackie K, Marnett LJ, Winder DG (2009) Repeated homotypic stress elevates 2-arachidonoylglycerol levels and enhances short-term endocannabinoid signaling at inhibitory synapses in basolateral amygdala. Neuropsychopharmacology 34:2699–2709.
- Patel S, Roelke CT, Rademacher DJ, Cullinan WE, Hillard CJ (2004) Endocannabinoid signaling negatively modulates stress-induced activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. Endocrinology 145:5431–5438.
- Patel S, Roelke CT, Rademacher DJ, Hillard CJ (2005) Inhibition of restraint stress-induced neural and behavioural activation by endogenous cannabinoid signalling. Eur J Neurosci 21:1057–1069.
- Petrosino S, Di Marzo V (2010) FAAH and MAGL inhibitors: therapeutic opportunities from regulating endocannabinoid levels. Curr Opin Investig Drugs 11:51–62.

- Petrovich GD, Canteras NS, Swanson LW (2001) Combinatorial amygdalar inputs to hippocampal domains and hypothalamic behavior systems. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 38:247–289.
- Petrovich GD, Holland PC, Gallagher M (2005) Amygdalar and prefrontal pathways to the lateral hypothalamus are activated by a learned cue that stimulates eating. J Neurosci 25:8295–8302.
- Peyron C, Tighe DK, van den Pol AN, de Lecea L, Heller HC, Sutcliffe JG, Kilduff TS (1998) Neurons containing hypocretin (orexin) project to multiple neuronal systems. J Neurosci 18:9996–10015.
- Pompili M, Serafini G, Innamorati M, Möller-Leimkühler AM, Giupponi G, Girardi P, Tatarelli R, Lester D (2010) The hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and serotonin abnormalities: a selective overview for the implications of suicide prevention. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 260:583–600.
- Puente N, Cui Y, Lassalle O, Lafourcade M, Georges F, Venance L, Grandes P, Manzoni OJ (2011) Polymodal activation of the endocannabinoid system in the extended amygdala. Nat Neurosci 14:1542–1547.
- Puente N, Elezgarai I, Lafourcade M, Reguero L, Marsicano G, Georges F, Manzoni OJ, Grandes P (2010) Localization and function of the cannabinoid CB1 receptor in the anterolateral bed nucleus of the stria terminalis. PLoS One 5:e8869.
- Rademacher DJ, Meier SE, Shi L, Ho WS, Jarrahian A, Hillard CJ (2008) Effects of acute and repeated restraint stress on endocannabinoid content in the amygdala, ventral striatum, and medial prefrontal cortex in mice. Neuropharmacology 54:108–116.
- Ramikie TS, Patel S (2012) Endocannabinoid signaling in the amygdala: anatomy, synaptic signaling, behavior, and adaptations to stress. Neuroscience.
- Reich CG, Taylor ME, McCarthy MM (2009) Differential effects of chronic unpredictable stress on hippocampal CB1 receptors in male and female rats. Behav Brain Res 203:264–269.
- Rodgers RJ, Haller J, Halasz J, Mikics E (2003). 'One-trial sensitization' to the anxiolytic-like effects of cannabinoid receptor antagonist SR141716A in the mouse elevated plus-maze. Eur J Neurosci 17:1279–1286.
- Rosene DL, Van Hoesen GW (1977) Hippocampal efferents reach widespread areas of cerebral cortex and amygdala in the rhesus monkey. Science 198:315–317.
- Sah P, Lopez De Armentia M (2003) Excitatory synaptic transmission in the lateral and central amygdala. Ann N Y Acad Sci 985:67–77.
- Scavone JL, Mackie K, Van Bockstaele EJ (2010) Characterization of cannabinoid-1 receptors in the locus coeruleus: relationship with mu-opioid receptors. Brain Res 1312:18–31.
- Sigel E, Baur R, Rácz I, Marazzi J, Smart TG, Zimmer A, Gertsch J (2011) The major central endocannabinoid directly acts at GABA(A) receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:18150–18155.
- Steiner MA, Marsicano G, Nestler EJ, Holsboer F, Lutz B, Wotjak CT (2008a) Antidepressant-like behavioral effects of impaired cannabinoid receptor type 1 signaling coincide with exaggerated corticosterone secretion in mice. Psychoneuroendocrinology 33:54–67.
- Steiner MA, Marsicano G, Wotjak CT, Lutz B (2008b) Conditional cannabinoid receptor type 1 mutants reveal neuron subpopulationspecific effects on behavioral and neuroendocrine stress responses. Psychoneuroendocrinology 33:1165–1170.
- Steiner MA, Wotjak CT (2008) Role of the endocannabinoid system in regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. Prog Brain Res 170:397–432.
- Suárez J, Llorente R, Romero-Zerbo SY, Mateos B, Bermúdez-Silva FJ, de Fonseca FR, Viveros MP (2009) Early maternal deprivation induces gender-dependent changes on the expression of hip-

pocampal CB(1) and CB(2) cannabinoid receptors of neonatal rats. Hippocampus 19:623–632.

- Sugiura T, Kondo S, Sukagawa A, Nakane S, Shinoda A, Itoh K, Yamashita A, Waku K (1995) 2-Arachidonoylglycerol: a possible endogenous cannabinoid receptor ligand in brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 215:89–97.
- Tanji J, Hoshi E (2008) Role of the lateral prefrontal cortex in executive behavioral control. Physiol Rev 88:37–57.
- Tao R, Auerbach SB (2000) Regulation of serotonin release by GABA and excitatory amino acids. J Psychopharmacol 14:100–113.
- Thomas EA, Cravatt BF, Danielson PE, Gilula NB, Sutcliffe JG (1997) Fatty acid amide hydrolase, the degradative enzyme for anandamide and oleamide, has selective distribution in neurons within the rat central nervous system. J Neurosci Res 50:1047–1052.
- Turu G, Hunyady L (2010) Signal transduction of the CB1 cannabinoid receptor. J Mol Endocrinol 44:75–85.
- Ulrich-Lai YM, Herman JP (2009) Neural regulation of endocrine and autonomic stress responses. Nat Rev Neurosci 10:397–409.
- Van Gaal L, Pi-Sunyer X, Després JP, McCarthy C, Scheen A (2008) Efficacy and safety of rimonabant for improvement of multiple cardiometabolic risk factors in overweight/obese patients: pooled 1-year data from the Rimonabant in Obesity (RIO) program. Diabetes Care 31 (Suppl 2):S229–S240.
- van Groen T, Wyss JM (1990) The connections of presubiculum and parasubiculum in the rat. Brain Res 518:227–243.
- Van Sickle MD, Oland LD, Ho W, Hillard CJ, Mackie K, Davison JS, Sharkey KA (2001) Cannabinoids inhibit emesis through CB1 receptors in the brainstem of the ferret. Gastroenterology 121:767–774.
- Vázquez-Borsetti P, Celada P, Cortés R, Artigas F (2011) Simultaneous projections from prefrontal cortex to dopaminergic and serotonergic nuclei. Int J Neuropsychopharmacol 14:289–302.
- Viveros MP, Marco EM, File SE (2005) Endocannabinoid system and stress and anxiety responses. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 81:331–342.
- Wade MR, Degroot A, Nomikos GG (2006) Cannabinoid CB1 receptor antagonism modulates plasma corticosterone in rodents. Eur J Pharmacol 551:162–167.
- Wang W, Sun D, Pan B, Roberts CJ, Sun X, Hillard CJ, Liu QS (2010) Deficiency in endocannabinoid signaling in the nucleus accumbens induced by chronic unpredictable stress. Neuropsychopharmacology 35:2249–2261.
- Wenger T, Ledent C, Tramu G (2003) The endogenous cannabinoid, anandamide, activates the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis in CB1 cannabinoid receptor knockout mice. Neuroendocrinology 78:294–300.
- Wotjak CT (2005) Role of endogenous cannabinoids in cognition and emotionality. Mini Rev Med Chem 5:659–670.
- Xing G, Carlton J, Zhang L, Jiang X, Fullerton C, Li H, Ursano R (2011) Cannabinoid receptor expression and phosphorylation are differentially regulated between male and female cerebellum and brain stem after repeated stress: implication for PTSD and drug abuse. Neurosci Lett 502:5–9.
- Zanettini C, Panlilio LV, Alicki M, Goldberg SR, Haller J, Yasar S (2011) Effects of endocannabinoid system modulation on cognitive and emotional behavior. Front Behav Neurosci 5:57.
- Zhang Y, Damjanoska KJ, Carrasco GA, Dudas B, D'Souza DN, Tetzlaff J, Garcia F, Hanley NR, Scripathirathan K, Petersen BR, Gray TS, Battaglia G, Muma NA, Van de Kar LD (2002) Evidence that 5-HT2A receptors in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus mediate neuroendocrine responses to (-)DOI. J Neurosci 22:9635–9642.

(Accepted 12 December 2011) (Available online 2 January 2012)